STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUN 27 2019

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000779
Lower Court Case No. 2013-CP-29-00951

VERNARD JEROME MATHIS, #297034,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TARA DAWN SHURLING
Attorney and Counselor at Law
S.C. Bar No. 5099

3614 Landmark Drive, Suite A
Columbia, S. C. 29204
(803)738-8622 Phone
(803)738-1600 Fax
Email: tdslaw@shurlinglaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I.

Was Petitioner's Application for Post-Conviction Relief timely filed pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-45(C), where he demonstrated below, and Respondent conceded, that it was filed within one year of his discovery of the new evidence asserted concerning the foreman of his jury?

II.

Did the lower court err in failing to grant Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof in establishing that his right to a fair trial, as guaranteed by the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, was violated in the trial court where a juror in his case, the foreman of Petitioner's jury, failed to disclose a long history of employment in law enforcement including two positions which had put him in the position of working with the then Solicitor in Lancaster, John R. Justice, as well as his staff?

III.

Did the lower court err in failing to grant Petitioner's request for a new trial where the evidence adduced below established that members of the Sixth Circuit Solicitor's Office involved directly in the Petitioner's trial were aware of this juror's relationship with their office and failed to disclose this information either to the Court *or* Counsel for the Petitioner?

IV.

Did the lower court err in failing to grant Petitioner's request for a new trial where the evidence adduced below established that members of the Sixth Circuit Solicitor's Office improperly failed to report direct communication between the Solicitor's Office and Roberts after he was summoned for jury duty, but before Petitioner's trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The procedural history of this case, prior to the PCR Court's ruling on this application, is accurately set in the Memorandum in Support of PCR filed by Petitioner on April 24, 2017. Following that submission, an Order of Dismissal was filed in this PCR on February 22, 2018. Petitioner subsequently filed a Motion to Alter or Amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF. Said Motion was denied by Order dated March 26, 2018. Notice of Appeal from said orders was filed on April 23, 2018. Petitioner's Memorandum in Support of Timeliness was filed with this Honorable Court on May 11, 2018. By letter Order dated December 24, 2018, Petitioner was

granted leave to proceed with this appeal. He now seeks certiorari in order that he might submit full briefs on the issues summarized herein.

Summary of Relevant Portions of Depositions

Ronnie Ellison Roberts

In 2003 Roberts was employed by a mortgage insurance company and described his job as a training manager. Prior to that, he taught criminal law at Northeastern Technical College for two years. App. p. 1130, l. 25-p. 1133, l. 14. Roberts initially stated that prior to that he retired as Police Chief for the City of York, on April 7, 2000. He subsequently admitted that after leaving the York Police Department he took the position as Chief of Police in the Town of Kershaw from about June, 2000 to December, 2000, when the City did away with its police department. App. p. 1133, l. 15- p. 1134, l. 25. Roberts's lengthy history of employment in law enforcement is documented in his deposition which establishes the following employment timeline:

- November 17, 1975 – February, 1982, he was with the Lancaster Police Department.
- 1982 – 1986 Director of Public Safety, USC Police Department , USC Lancaster, S.C.
- 1986 – 1989 Police Chief at USC Police Department in Columbia, S. C.
- 1989 – 1996 Instructor for the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy
- July, 1996 – July, 1998 Chief of Police Lake City Police Department
- July, 1998 – April, 2000 York Police Department
- Chief of Police, Kershaw Police Department, June 26, 2000- December 31, 2000.

App.p. 1133, l. 15 – p. 1137, l. 22. Roberts recalled serving on Petitioner's jury in June, 2008, and confirmed that he was appointed as foreman on that jury. App. p. 1137, l. 25- p. 1138, l. 6.

When asked if he recalled being asked during *voir dire* whether he had any relationship with the Sixth Circuit Solicitor's Office, Roberts not only said "no" but added, "*Of course I have no relationship with them.*" App. p. 1139, ll. 5-11. He repeated his claim that he didn't recall being asked the question about his relationship with the Sixth Circuit Solicitor's Office, and stated that the only person he knew in that office was Solicitor John R. Justice. App. p. 1142, ll. 12-18.

Roberts admitted calling the Solicitor's Office after being summoned for jury service. He stated, "*I called and talked to someone and told them, you know, with my background would it not disqualify me. And they said as long as I could do a fair trial, you know, to come up, that they would not excuse me. So I came up.*" App. p. 1142, l. 18-22. He said he could not recall who he spoke with at the Solicitor's Office. App. p. 1142, l. 23- p. 16, l. 2. Roberts claimed, "*The only one I knew was the one who is now the Sheriff. I knew him. I didn't know the others.*" App. p. 1143, ll. 11-14 and 23-25. He claimed he did not know who the witnesses were going to be at the time he was seated. He testified that the list of potential witnesses *was not read during* jury selection. App. p. 1143, ll. 15-22. The record of the *voir dire* of Petitioner's jury very clearly reflects that this is not true. App. p. 814- p. 816. The jury pool was asked, "*Do any members of the Petit Jury panel have any relationship or contact with Solicitor John Reid Justice or any member of the Sixth Judicial Circuit's Solicitor's Office. If so stand.*" App. p. 819. Roberts did not respond to this question. Roberts admitted in his PCR testimony that he knew Barry Faile, a law enforcement witness for the State. He also added, "*But that's the only one I knew by name.*" App. p.1142, l. 23-p.1144, l. 5. He said he knew Solicitor Justice, but claimed he had only spoken with him one time, and that was in a case where he was a prosecution witness. App. p. 1146, ll. 6-25.

When questioned more closely about knowing Witness Faile, Roberts again qualified his answer noting that, "*As far as I can remember*" he was the only witness he knew from this trial App p. 1145, ll. 3-6. Roberts claimed he *did not* discuss his law enforcement background with the members of Petitioner's jury. App. p. 1145, ll. 18-20. He qualified his answer by stating, "*I don't remember doing that.*" He admitted that one of the other jurors, Eddie Lewis, knew him. App. p. 1145, ll. 21-25.;App. p. 1146, l. 2-3; App.p. 897. Roberts admitted Law Enforcement

Witness Barry Faile knew about his career in law enforcement. App. p. 20, l. 14-p. 1148, l. 8; App. p. 1148, ll. 6-8.

Roberts eventually admitted that he knew Senior Assistant Solicitor, Doug Barfield. App. p. 1148, l. 14- p. 1149, l. 3. When he received the letter about the deposition, he admitted he called and spoke with Barfield about it. App. p. 1149, ll. 17-23. Roberts stated that Barfield knew some of his family members. App. p. 1150, ll. 9-14. . Roberts claimed that when he called the Solicitor's Office about his jury summons he spoke with "*whoever answered the phone.*" App. p. 1150, ll. 23-25. He did, however, disclose the gender of the person he spoke with by saying, "*I told him*" I was retired. App. p. 1151, ll. 3-7. *See also*, App. p. 1153, l. 15-17. He clearly stated, "*I wasn't trying to get out of it*", but noted he didn't "*think anybody would let him sit anyway.*" App. p. 1151, ll. 9-11. (Emphasis added). When asked if he would have answered the question concerning knowing or having contact with the Solicitor's Office *if he had heard it*, he responded "*yes*" and noted that this issue was why he had called the Solicitor's Office. App. p.1153, ll. 10-19.

When asked if he had any cases with the Solicitor's Office while he was Kershaw City Police Chief, he said "*no*". He then qualified his answer by saying, "*I don't think we had any General Sessions or anything that came up through them.*" App. p. 1155, ll. 15-17. Roberts admitted that he knew the Defense would not want a police officer on any jury. App. p. 1157, ll. 2-5. He said that was why he called the Solicitor's Office. His testimony shows that he knew how the jury system worked and was aware that either side could use a peremptory strike to remove him from service. App. p. 1157, ll. 2-16. As previously noted, he was also with the Lancaster Police Department for six years during the tenure of John Justice as Solicitor for that circuit.

Roberts testified that when he called the Solicitor's Office, "*He told me to come up, and he might could release me, but he didn't. He kept me all week.*" App. p. 1156, ll. 8-21 (Emphasis added). See also, App. p. 1158, l. 15-16. He went out of his way to let the prosecution know he would be in the jury pool that week, but he did nothing to reveal the fact to Defense Counsel, but rather assumed "*the defense attorneys did their own leg work and knew.*" App. p. 1157, ll. 13-18. Roberts did nothing to bring his long history as a law enforcement officer to the attention of the Court either. He also admitted that he did nothing to try and be excused from jury service at this trial. App. p. 1158, l. 5- p. 32, l. 9. Roberts admitted that when the Court asked if any of the prospective jurors had contact with the Solicitor's Office he did not disclose his previous work with the Solicitor's Office, nor did he tell the Court and Defense Counsel about having called the Solicitor's Office about being called for jury service the week of this trial. App. p. 1159, l. 13-25.

Attorney Thomas William Holland

Holland was an Assistant Solicitor in the Sixth Circuit at the time of Petitioner's trial. App. p. 1168, ll. 1-9. He participated in the prosecution of Petitioner, but was not present during all the jury selection. App. p. 1168, ll. 10-24. He recalled being told by either "*a court person*" or law enforcement that the jury looked good, and that the foreman was a former Chief [of Police] in Kershaw. App. p. 1169, l. 17- p. 1170, l. 16. He then heard "*other law enforcement officers connected with [Petitioner's] case discussing the fact that Mr. Roberts was on the jury.*" App. p. 1170, l. 17-p. 1171, l. 2.

Holland recalled being shocked that Roberts was on the jury, and admitted he didn't understand why he wasn't struck. He said he heard multiple people, law enforcement and court personnel, discussing it. App. p. 1171, l. 3- p. 1172, l. 12. He admitted that these individuals

obviously thought it was significant enough to bring to his attention. App. p. 1172, ll. 14-18. Holland brought what he had been told to the attention of one of the two senior prosecutors; either Solicitor John Justice or Senior Assistant Solicitor Doug Barfield. He stated that he “*would assume*” he would have talked with Doug Barfield rather than Solicitor Justice. Holland Dep. p. 8, l. 19- p. 9, l. 6. *See also*, App. p. 1174, l. 24- p. 1175, l. 11. He recalled asking how Roberts could have gotten on the jury and questioning whether the defense lawyer ran out of strikes. He remembered asking whether Defense Counsel knew the foreman was former law enforcement. His deposition confirms that he was told the defense did not run out of strikes and further, that the senior prosecutor’s response was “*I don’t know what he knew kind of thing.*” App. p. 1173, ll. 6-12. When he asked if they should disclose this information, or should have disclosed, he was told, “*No, he answered all the questions.*” App. p. 1173, ll. 12-19. He acknowledged that with this being a murder case, there would have been 2-3 alternate jurors selected. App. p. 1175, ll. 12-18.

The trial record shows that three (3) alternate jurors were selected. App. p. 876, l. 13- p. 878, l. 22. The record documents that the defense had only used three of its ten strikes at the time Roberts was seated. App. p. 870, l. 9- p. 874, l. 12. The *Voir Dire*, establishes that the defense actually only used three (3) strikes during the entire selection process. App. p. 870, l. 9- p. 876, l. 10. When asked if he ever considered disclosing the background of this juror to the defense team, Holland stated no, and went on to explain “*it was their case...*” App. p. 1175, l. 23- p. 1176, l. 6. Holland appeared to downplay how pleased the law enforcement officers involved in this case were about getting a former Chief of Police on this jury, he admitted that they were all happy about it. App. p. 1177, l. 13- p. 1178, l. 18. He acknowledged that a defense attorney would be expected to use a peremptory strike to excuse a former law enforcement

officer from service provided he had strikes available. App. p. 1178, l. 19- p. 1179, l. 14.

After Holland left the Solicitor's Office, he conveyed information about this situation to one of his clients who knew Petitioner and who in turn set up a telephone call between him and Petitioner. App. p. 1176, ll. 7-19. He acknowledged that after his telephone conversation with someone who identified himself as Petitioner, he was contacted by the late Dave MacDougal, who identified himself as an investigator hired to investigate reports that Roberts was former law enforcement. App.. p 1177, ll. 2-9. He confirmed that law enforcement officers at the trial were happy about the fact that they had Roberts, a former law enforcement officer, on the jury. App.p. 1177, l. 13-p. 1178, l. 17.

Summary of Relevant Testimony from the PCR Evidentiary Hearing

Testimony of Ronnie Roberts

Roberts, testified that after receiving notice that he was being called for jury service he called "*the Solicitor's Office and...asked to be dismissed because of I figured they would not let me serve anyway being a former police officer.*" App.. p. 1019, ll. 5-13. When asked whether he "*asked to be dismissed*", he answered affirmatively. App. p. 1019, ll. 14-15. After being reminded of his sworn statement in his deposition that he had not called the Solicitor's Office with the intent to try and get out of jury service, Roberts stated, "*I actually can not remember. I called the solicitor's phone number that was in the book and I know I spoke to someone. I can not remember who I spoke with.*" App. p. 1020, ll. 15-17. Although he stated in his deposition that he was not trying to get out of jury service when he called the Solicitor's Office, he claimed at this hearing that he actually was. Next he backtracked and admitted he *had not* ever asked to be relieved [from jury service]. App. p. 1019, l. 19- p. 1020, l. 7. He then claimed that he had called to inquire as to whether he would be allowed to serve in light of his lengthy law

enforcement career. App. p. 1020, ll. 3-10. Immediately after this testimony, Roberts qualified his response, saying, "*to the best of my knowledge.*" App. p. 1020, l. 12.

Roberts testified that he did not remember who he had spoken with when he called the Solicitor's Office. He stated, "*I actually can not remember. I called the solicitor's phone number that was in the book and I know I spoke to someone. I can not remember who I spoke with.*" App. p. 1020, ll. 15-17. Roberts told whoever he spoke with about being "*a former law enforcement*", but said he did not know whether the length of his law enforcement career "*came in to play*" during the conversation. App. p. 1020, ll. 20-25. Roberts testified that he could not recall whether the person he spoke with during his call to the Solicitor's Office was someone who already knew him "*as a former law enforcement officer.*" He denied recalling whether he already knew the person prior to that telephone call. App. p. 1021, ll. 1-9. He testified that he "*was told I had to report and that, you know, if they had issues with my background that I would be dismissed or struck. However they call that. That they don't choose you to be on jury.*" App. p. 1021, ll. 11-16.

Roberts admitted that during his deposition he repeatedly referenced the person he spoke with in his telephone call to the Solicitor's Office as, "*he*", but reiterated his earlier testimony that he could not recall who the man he spoke with was. App. p. 1021, l. 17- p. 1022, l. 9. Roberts testified that once they got to Court, he thought, "*Mr. Justice was in charge then.*" App. p. 1022, ll. 9-13. Roberts testified that although he assumed the Solicitor knew about his phone call to the Solicitor's Office, he did not actually know. App. p. 1022, ll. 10-20. Respondent stipulated to Roberts' law enforcement background as reflected in the pleadings. App. p. 1023, ll. 11-20. Roberts claimed he answered all the questions asked during the jury selection and did not stand when the question was asked about any relationships with the Solicitor's Office

because he “*did not have any connection with them at that time.*” App. p. 1124, l. 12- p.1125, ll. 10-11. Roberts denied having stated in his deposition that he had no recollection of even being asked the *voir dire* question concerning any relationship with the Solicitor’s Office. App. p. 1025, l. 22- p. 1026, l. 1. *See also*, App. p. 1016, l. 5- p. 1019, l. 14. He admitted that in his deposition he initially claimed John Justice was the only person he knew in the Solicitor’s Office. App. p. 1026, ll. 5-20. He claimed he did listen to the questions put to him during the *voir dire*. App. p. 1028, ll. 23-25. He, however, testified that he could not recall being asked whether he had any special relationships with any of the potential witnesses. App. p. 1027, ll. 1-5. Roberts admitted he had stated at his deposition that at the time he was seated he did not know who the State’s witnesses would be and did not hear a list of witnesses read out during the *voir dire*. In his hearing testimony he reiterated his claim that he did not hear a list of witnesses being read. App. p. 1027, ll. 6- p. 1028, l. 15. Roberts went on to admit that during his deposition he stated that he *did not* recall being asked about any connection with the Solicitor’s Office during *voir dire*. He had no explanation for his inability to recall a list of witnesses being read during *voir dire*; save the passage of time. App. p. 1029, ll. 1-5.

Roberts testified that he remembered being asked a question during his deposition about whether he recalled a *voir dire* question concerning whether he had any connection with the Solicitor’s Office. He acknowledged that in his deposition he stated he did not recall being asked that question. App. p. 1029, ll. 6-22. When asked if he also recalled saying during his deposition that if he had heard the question about any connection with the Solicitor’s Office, he would have answered and acknowledged that he knew the Solicitor, Roberts, responded “*I don’t know how to answer that.*” App. p. 1029, l. 23- p. 1030, l. 1. He then went on to claim that if he had heard that question concerning any connection with the Solicitor’s Office, he *would not* have

answered, “*because I had no connection with the Solicitor’s Office at that time.*” App. p. 1030, ll. 2-6. In his PCR hearing testimony Roberts had admitted knowing both Solicitor John Justice and Deputy Solicitor Doug Barfield. He acknowledged that some of his family members “*possibly*” were acquainted with Barfield, noting “*I don’t know, but I’m assume [sic] they did because they were older then [sic] I.*” App. p. 1026, ll. 5-20. He declined to acknowledge that in his deposition he indicated that certain members of his family were acquainted with Barfield. App. p. 1026, ll. 16. He testified that he called the Solicitor’s Office to discuss this matter because, “*my concern was that most of the time when a policeman is called and they are not seated --- they’re really wasting time to be there as jurors when they are never utilized on the jury. So I assumed nobody would seat me because of that.*” App. p. 1027, ll. 17-21. He *denied* questioning whether he would even be qualified to serve on a jury due to his career background. App. p. 1027, ll. 12-17. After being read the specific *voir dire* question asked at trial concerning any relationship or *contact with* the Solicitor or anyone on his staff, Roberts then stated, “*I remember if that’s what they read, I remember that.*” App. p. 1032, ll. 17-25. He testified that he did not respond to this *voir dire* question because, “*I had no connection to the solicitor’s office or contact with them about this case.*” App. p. 1033, ll. 1-25.

Roberts acknowledged that in his deposition he stated that the only witness he knew from this trial was Barry Faile. App. p. 1034, ll. 4-9. His explanation for not responding to the *voir dire* question about witnesses was, once again, that he never heard the witness list read during *voir dire*. He declined to give any explanation for why he did not hear the list of witnesses being read. App. p. 1034, ll. 10-16. He admitted that he knew Barry Faile, but added, “*I had no relationship with him.*” App. p. 1034, ll. 17-18. When asked whether there were other law enforcement officers that he knew, he stated, “*Not that I remember.*” App. p. 1034, ll. 19-21.

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