STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO LANCASTER COUNTY
Paul E. Short, Jr., Trial Judge
Brian M. Gibbons, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000779

RECEIVED

Jun 18 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

VERNARD JEROME MATHIS,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SAMUEL L. KEY
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103206

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Roberts testified he did not stand when asked during voir dire if he had any special relationship by blood or marriage or otherwise any special relationship with any of the witnesses called to trial. App. 1053. Roberts testified if someone asked him today if he had any relation or contact with the Sixth Circuit Solicitor's Office he would say he has none. App. 1053. Roberts testified he had contact with John Justice once for a case when he interviewed him for five minutes before trial and then he testified which was twenty five years before this trial. App. 1054. Roberts testified he worked as the chief of police for the town of Kershaw for six months during which time he did not have any cases go to the Sixth Circuit Solicitor's Office. App. 1056 Roberts testified he was not trying to get on the jury. PCR tr. 52. Roberts then testified he answered all the questions from the *voir dire* as honestly as he could. App. 1056.

Discussion

Petitioner argues “[t]he evidence introduced by Petitioner establishes that Roberts was not a credible witness,” and “the testimony in question leaves no doubt that Roberts deliberately consulted the Solicitor's Office concerning his presence in this jury pool and his that information for [*sic*] the Court and Petitioner.” Pet. 23. Petitioner's argument fails because the PCR court disagreed and found Roberts was a credible witness. *See Foye*, 335 S.C. at 589, 518 S.E.2d at 267 (“Where matters of credibility are involved, this Court gives great deference to a judge's findings, because this Court lacks the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses.”). Further, the PCR court's finding that Roberts did not conceal information on *voir dire* is supported by the record. *See Sellner*, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (“This Court gives great deference to the factual findings of the PCR court and will uphold them if there is any evidence of probative value to support them.”). Therefore, based on the standard of review, certiorari should be denied.

“[A] new trial is warranted on the basis of juror misconduct if it is shown that (1) the juror intentionally concealed information; and (2) the information concealed would have supported a challenge for cause or would have been a material factor in the use of the party's peremptory challenges.” *McCoy*, 401 S.C. at 371, 737 S.E.2d at 627.

The PCR court made a finding of fact that Roberts did not intentionally conceal information on *voir dire*. This finding is supported by the record. As noted above, Roberts recalled being called to jury service for Petitioner's trial. Roberts then called the Solicitor's Office and asked to be dismissed because he thought he would not be able to serve as a juror because he was a former police officer. Roberts clarified he asked whether or not he would be allowed to serve as a juror. Roberts did not know who he spoke to at the Solicitor's Office. Roberts testified he was told to show up to the jury summons. App. 1019–21. Roberts testified he had one case in which Solicitor Justice was involved when he was a young officer. Roberts testified he retired after twenty-five years of law enforcement service. App. 1023–24. Roberts testified he answered every question asked on *voir dire*. App. 1025. Roberts testified he did stand when asked if he had a relationship, or connection to the Sixth Circuit Solicitor's Office because he “did not have any connection to them at that time.” App. 1025. Roberts testified he retired in 2000 and had no connection with anyone involved at that time. App. 1025. Roberts testified he was never asked his background, and that is why he did not notify the trial court or defense counsel. App. 1030.

Further, the PCR court found credible Roberts' testimony that he did not have any type of relationship or contact with the Sixth Circuit Solicitor's Office, or with any employee thereof. It is clear from Roberts' testimony that he called the Solicitor's Office only to ask if he needed to show up to jury duty because of his background. Roberts showed up to jury duty and answered the questions truthfully regarding any special relationship with the Solicitor's Office. Therefore, the

PCR court correctly concluded Roberts did not intentionally conceal information on *voir dire*. As such, certiorari should be denied as to this issue.

III. Petitioner abandoned his argument the prosecution committed misconduct by failing to disclose its knowledge that Roberts' was retired law enforcement, and the prosecution was under no duty to disclose this information

Petitioner's argument that the prosecution committed misconduct because it failed to disclose its knowledge of Roberts' law enforcement background is, at best, conclusory. Petitioner devotes half a sentence to this argument, "Petitioner submits that it was incumbent upon [the State] to disclose . . . [its] knowledge of [Roberts'] lengthy law enforcement [background]." Pet. 25. Petitioner fails to cite any case law supporting this assertion, nor does Petitioner cite to anywhere in the record in support of this argument. *See* Rule 243(e)(3), SCACR ("The argument on each question shall include citation of authority and specific reference to pertinent portions of the lower court record."); *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (noting when a party fails to cite authority or when the argument is simply a conclusory statement, the party is deemed to have abandoned the issue on appeal); *Eaddy v. Smurfit–Stone Container Corp.*, 355 S.C. 154, 164, 584 S.E.2d 390, 396 (Ct.App.2003) ("[S]hort, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not preserved for our review."). Certiorari should be denied because Petitioner has abandoned this argument by only asserting a conclusory statement with no citation to supporting authority.

Petitioner's claim fails on the merits because the prosecution had no duty to disclose its knowledge that Roberts was retired law enforcement.

"The responsibility for obtaining [juror background information] falls on the attorneys to request precise *voir dire* questions that are reasonably comprehensible to the average juror." *Lynch v. Carolina Self Storage Centers, Inc.*, 409 S.C. 146, 156, 760 S.E. 2d 111, 117 (2014). The non-

disclosure did not amount to a *Brady* violation. The holding in *Brady v. Maryland* requires disclosure only of evidence that is both favorable to the accused and “material either to guilt or to punishment.” 373 U.S. 83, 88 (1963). “[T]he prosecutor will not have violated his constitutional duty of disclosure unless his omission is of sufficient significance to result in the denial of the defendant’s right to a fair trial.” *United States v. Agurs*, 427 U.S. 97, 108 (1976). “The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish ‘materiality’ in the constitutional sense.” *Id.* at 109–10.

Rule 5(a)(1), SCRCrimP, provides what the prosecution must disclose to the defendant upon the defendant’s request. Information subject to disclosure includes: (A) statements by the defendant; (B) the defendant’s prior record; (C) documents and tangible objects under control of the prosecution and are material to the preparation of the defense or the prosecution intends to use such material as evidence in chief at trial, or were obtained from or belonged to the defendant; and (D) reports of examinations and tests which are material to the preparation of the defense or the prosecution intends to use such evidence as evidence in chief at trial. Rule 5(a)(1)(A–D), SCRCrimP. Rule 5(a)(2), SCRCrimP, provides what information is not subject to disclosure. Specifically, “reports, memoranda, or other internal prosecution documents made by the [solicitor] or other prosecution agents in connection with the investigation or prosecution of the case” are not subject to disclosure. Rule 5(a)(2), SCRCrimP.

In *State v. Matthews*, our Supreme Court was asked if former Rule 8, Criminal Practice Rules,³ required the prosecution “to disclose any information, other than criminal records checks,

³ Rule 5, SCRCrimP, replaced Rule 8, Criminal Practice Rules, on September 1, 1988. *See* Rule 39, SCRCrimP.

it had gathered on prospective jurors.” 296 S.C. 379, 384, 373 S.E.2d 587, 590 (1988). The Court held background information on potential jurors, other than criminal records checks, held by the prosecution qualified as an “‘internal prosecution’ matter connected with the prosecution of the case. As such it was not subject to disclosure.” *Id.* at 384, 373 S.E.2d at 591.

Here, it was Counsel’s duty to obtain Roberts’ background information by requesting precise *voir dire* questions. Counsel failed to request an unambiguous question as to whether any of the potential jurors had background in law enforcement. Because this PCR action is successive and untimely, Petitioner cannot raise a claim of ineffective assistance of Counsel for failure to request such *voir dire*. Petitioner is attempting to back door an ineffective assistance of counsel claim through a prosecutorial misconduct allegation. However, the prosecution did nothing wrong in this case. Clearly, Roberts’ law enforcement background had nothing to do with Petitioner’s guilt or punishment. Further, the State was under no duty to disclose such information even if Counsel had requested it from the State. *See Matthews*, 296 S.C. at 384, 373 S.E.2d at 591 (holding that information obtained by the prosecution on potential jurors was an “internal prosecution matter” not subject to disclosure). As such, certiorari should be denied on this issue because the prosecution was under no duty to disclose its knowledge of Roberts’ law enforcement background.

IV. Whether the prosecution should have disclosed Roberts’ phone call to the Solicitor’s Office is not preserved where this issue was not raised until after the PCR hearing; additionally, Petitioner failed to show the prosecution had any knowledge of Roberts’ call to the Solicitor’s Office, and the Rules of Professional Conduct have no bearing on the constitutionality of a criminal conviction

Petitioner argues the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by failing to disclose Roberts’ phone call to the Solicitor’s Office. Pet. 25. Certiorari should be denied because whether the State should have disclosed Roberts’ phone call to the Solicitor’s Office is not preserved because it was raised for the first time to the PCR court in Petitioner’s post-trial memorandum in

support of PCR. (App. 1202–03). Certiorari should also be denied because Petitioner failed to prove anyone involved in the prosecution was aware of Roberts’ phone call, and the State did not actively contact Roberts to investigate him.

First, whether the State should have disclosed that Roberts called its office to ask if he needed to show up to jury duty was not raised as until after the PCR hearing. “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion.” *Bank of New York v. Sumter County*, 387 S.C. 147, 159, 691 S.E.2d 473, 479 (2010). Here, the PCR application did not allege the State failed to disclose Roberts’ phone call. App. 900. The motion for discovery did not allege the State failed to disclose Roberts’ phone call. App. x. Petitioner’s Reply to the State’s Amended Return did not allege the State failed to disclose Roberts’ phone call. App. 948–89. Petitioner’s reply to the State’s motion to reconvene deposition did not allege the State failed to disclose Roberts’ phone call. App. 982–84. And, there was no mention of this allegation in the PCR hearing. App. 1105–15; 1120–22. Finally, Petitioner did not move to conform his allegations to the testimony presented at the PCR hearing, nor did he move to amend to include this allegation. This allegation first arose in Petitioner’s post-trial memorandum in support of PCR. App. 1202–03. This allegation was raised for the second time in Petitioner’s Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion to alter or amend. Petitioner’s attempts to raise this issue after the PCR hearing does not preserve this issue for appeal. *See Bank of New York*, 387 S.C. at 159, 691 S.E.2d at 479 (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion.”); *Sevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. Cty. Of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 567, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014) (“Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide the Court with a platform for meaningful appellate review.”). This question was never properly raised to the PCR court; therefore the PCR court did not err in failing to address it in its order of dismissal. *See*

Fishburne v. State, 427 S.C. 505, 832 S.E.2d 584 (2019) (stating a PCR court errs when it fails to make adequate finding of fact and conclusions of law regarding *duly raised* issues).

Petitioner's claim fails on the merits because Petitioner relies on former rule DR7-108(A) of the Supreme Court Rules of Disciplinary Procedure. However, the Rules of Professional Conduct "have no bearing on the constitutionality of a criminal conviction." *State v. Bryant*, 354 S.C. 390, 395 n.2, 581 S.E.2d 157, 160 n.2 (2003). Former rule DR7-108(A) provided:

Before the trial of a case a lawyer connected therewith shall not communicate with or cause another to communicate with anyone he knows to be a member of the venire from which the jury will be selected for the trial of the case.

In re: Two Anonymous Members of the South Carolina Bar, 278 S.C. 477, 298 S.E.2d 450 (1985).

Petitioner's case is unlike both *State v. Bryant*, and *In re Two Anonymous Members of the South Carolina Bar*. In *Bryant*, a capital case, our Supreme Court was asked if Bryant was entitled to a new trial where law enforcement proactively contacted qualified jurors' family members and asked if the jurors could impose the death penalty. 354 S.C. at 396, 581 S.E.2d at 160–61. Our Supreme Court found law enforcement's actions compromised Bryant's right to a fair trial. *Id.* at 396–97, 581 S.E.2d at 160. The Court stated, "While we do not as a rule disapprove of juror background investigations, we can not condone the activity which admittedly occurred in this case." *Id.* (footnotes omitted).

In re Two Anonymous Members of the South Carolina Bar, was an attorney disciplinary matter where two attorneys made prohibited contact with the sister of a prospective juror in violation of former rule DR7-108(A&F) of the Supreme Court Rules of Disciplinary Procedure. 278 S.C. at 477, 298 S.E.2d at 450. In this matter, the attorneys asked a client, whose sister was a prospective juror in a capital case in which one of the attorney's was appointed to represent the defendant, asked the client of her sister's views on capital punishment. *Id.* at 478, 298 S.E.2d at

451. On *voir dire*, the potential juror disclosed the attorney's contact with her family member, the client. *Id.* The attorneys received a private reprimand for their actions. *Id.* at 480, 298 S.E.2d at 452.

Here, the prosecution, or any State agent, did not actively seek out Roberts or attempt to contact him. Rather, Roberts contacted the State and only asked if he had to show up for jury duty because he was retired law enforcement. The State's minimal contact with Roberts was inconsequential and had no bearing on his views of any case that may have been called for trial. Further, Petitioner failed to show any evidence that one of the prosecutors involved in the case even had knowledge of Robert's phone call. Petitioner's argument that it probably was one of the prosecutors is speculative at best. Because the State did not attempt to inquire into Roberts views as a potential juror, and because its contact with Roberts was minimal, the prosecution was under no duty to disclose this phone call. Certiorari should be denied because this issue was not preserved because it was never raised until after the PCR hearing, Petitioner failed to show the prosecution had any knowledge of Roberts' phone call, and a violation of the Rules of Professional Responsibility have no bearing on the constitutionality of a criminal conviction.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument, Petitioner’s action was untimely and successive, Roberts did not commit juror misconduct, and the State did not commit prosecutorial misconduct. Certiorari should be denied as to all issues.